RECEIVED

Jul 21 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
The Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025—000404

State of South Carolina..... Respondent,

vs.

Devin Zachary Elijah Ruttle..... Petitioner.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Christopher T. Brumback
Spencer D. Langley
531 South Main Street, Suite 307
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 414-9097
chris@brumbacklangley.com
Attorneys for Petitioner

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Should this case be vacated and remanded to give Petitioner, a criminal defendant, the opportunity to develop the record and establish the applicability of the new juror concealment framework announced for the first time after this case had already been briefed and argued before the Court of Appeals?
- II. Where Petitioner's case was pending on direct review when the new rule prohibiting the giving of any implied malice charge in a self-defense case was enunciated in State v. Smith, 430 S.C. 226, 845 S.E.2d 495 (2020), did the Court of Appeals err as a matter of law in holding that the implied malice jury charge issue was unreviewable on preservation grounds and that the charge of the court constituted harmless error?
- III. Did the misapplication of Terwilliger's civil directed verdict standard and Curry's language, albeit misconstrued by bench and bar, allowing the automatic denial of immunity in cases with conflicting evidence constitute an error of law by subjecting Petitioner to a burden of proof far beyond a preponderance of evidence?
- IV. Assuming arguendo that Petitioner should have known it was a bad idea to attempt to speak with decedent, was it an error of law for the court to debar Petitioner from his fundamental right of self-defense where his actions were not willingly and knowingly calculated to lead to combat?
- V. Pursuant to Rowell's newly enunciated framework for juror concealment determinations, upon establishing a prima facie case of juror concealment justifying an evidentiary hearing, is the showing required of the movant merely proving prejudice by demonstrating the withheld information suggests a potential for bias, and, if so, that it would have been material to the use of peremptory strikes, or is the movant required to, without action or assistance of or inquiry by the court, to prove any and all relevant facts by clear and convincing evidence?
- VI. In the face of unrefuted testamentary, photographic, videographic, documentary, and statistical evidence, did the Court of Appeals err as a matter of law in holding that Petitioner failed to establish the unity of identity between Juror 92, Nysha Jefferies, and the Nysha Jefferies that attended the church in which Petitioner was heavily involved and that was set up and led by Petitioner's father?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from criminal proceedings in the matter of State v. Devin Zachary Elijah Ruttle, in which Petitioner Devin Ruttle (“Mr. Ruttle”) was charged with Murder and Unlawful Carrying of Handgun, and concerns matters of law in the self-defense immunity hearing that was held pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §§ 16-11-450(A) and 16-11-440(C), and the subsequent jury trial of this case. See generally R. pp. 627-30.

The proceedings arise out of an incident wherein Mr. Ruttle, while on the grounds of the Timken Activity Center in Cowpens, South Carolina, admittedly utilized a concealed handgun carried about his person in self-defense, resulting in the death of Dalton Moore (“Decedent”).

Mr. Ruttle filed a pretrial Motion for Statutory Immunity based on S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-410 et seq., on the grounds that Mr. Ruttle was immune from prosecution because he had a legal right to use a firearm in self-defense when he was attacked by Decedent with a knife. R. pp. 32:17-33:21; 40:18-41:6. The pretrial hearing to consider Mr. Ruttle’s Motion for Statutory Immunity was held on August 29, 2018. The pretrial hearing was conducted outside of the presence of the jury and was considered and ruled upon by Judge J. Derham Cole.

On September 5, 2018, Judge Cole issued a written Order denying Mr. Ruttle’s Motion for Statutory Immunity because Judge Cole, applying State v. Curry, found that “[g]iven the actual testimony presented as well as reasonable interpretations or inferences to be drawn therefrom, it appears that the defendant’s ‘claim of self-defense presents a quintessential jury question, which, most assuredly, is not a situation warranting immunity from prosecution.’” R. p.4 (citing State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 752 S.E.2d 263 (2013)) (emphasis added).

Following the trial court’s denial of Mr. Ruttle’s pretrial Motion for Immunity, Mr. Ruttle was tried by jury from September 10 to September 13, 2018. The jury returned a guilty verdict against Mr.

Ruttle as to both the charges of Murder and Unlawful Carrying of Handgun and Judge Cole imposed a sentence of life imprisonment on Mr. Ruttle who was 19 at the time of the altercation and 21 at the time of trial. Following sentencing, Mr. Ruttle timely filed a Motion to Reconsider Sentence on September 19, 2018. A decision on Petitioner's Motion to Reconsider Sentence was not issued by the trial court until a year later on September 10, 2019, when Judge Cole issued a single page Order denying Mr. Ruttle's Motion to Reconsider.

Mr. Ruttle's Notice of Appeal was properly and timely served upon all parties of interest in this matter on September 12, 2019 seeking review of the trial court's Order denying Mr. Ruttle's Motion for Statutory Immunity, Mr. Ruttle's conviction, and the imposition of the life sentence. See R. p. 877. Mr. Ruttle was initially represented on appeal by the Appellate Division of the South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense until undersigned counsel was retained by Mr. Ruttle and substituted as counsel of record by way of Order of this Court on March 2020. Realizing that an issue of juror concealment existed, undersigned counsel immediately drafted and filed a Motion to Suspend Appeal and for Leave to File Motion Regarding Disqualification of Juror ("Motion to Suspend") with the Court of Appeals on April 17, 2020. Mr. Ruttle's Motion to Suspend was granted on June 10, 2020 and Mr. Ruttle proceeded to file his Motion for New Trial with the trial court on June 25, 2020.

On July 21, 2020 counsel for the State emailed Judge Cole "request[ing] a formal, in- person, hearing to allow for proper examination and cross-examination of the witnesses" and stating that the State "anticipate[d] issuing some subpoenas for the hearing." See R. p. 849. On September 3, 2020 the Court informed counsel for the parties that Judge Cole "would like to schedule a hearing on Devin Ruttle's motion for a new trial", however due to difficulties arising from the pandemic, including the South Carolina Department of Corrections moratorium on prisoner transport, a hearing was not able to be held on Mr. Ruttle's Motion for New Trial until May 12, 2021. At the hearing, Mr. Ruttle, his

trial counsel, Rick Vieth, Mr. Ruttle's father and the founder and Pastor of New Life Deliverance Worship Center ("New Life"), and the Youth Pastor for New Life between 2012 and 2015, Travis Mimms, testified in support of Mr. Ruttle's Motion for New Trial. In addition to live testimony Mr. Ruttle also submitted photographs, videos, and court and law enforcement documents in support of his Motion. The State called no witnesses and presented no evidence in opposition to Mr. Ruttle's Motion for New Trial. Neither the court nor the parties subpoenaed the juror in question, Nysha Jefferies, Juror 92, to attend the hearing. Almost a year after the May 12, 2021 hearing, Judge Cole issued an Order denying Mr. Ruttle's Motion for New Trial on April 7, 2022.

After denial of Mr. Ruttle's Motion for New Trial, the case returned to the Court of Appeals, briefs were submitted in August of 2023, thereafter the case was argued before the Court on June 5, 2024. Subsequent to oral arguments, undersigned counsel read the Supreme Court's decision in State v. Rowell, 444 S.C. 109, 906 S.E.2d 554 (2024) in the July 17, 2024 Advance Sheets and, pursuant to Rule 208(b)(7), SCACR, immediately notified the Court of Appeals, "without argument" of the impact of the Rowell decision on the Mr. Ruttle's appeal. Despite Rowell overturning 43 years of juror concealment jurisprudence and announcing a previously unknown framework for analyzing juror concealment issues, the Court of Appeals provided the parties no additional opportunity to supplement the record or brief the new juror concealment framework. Instead, the Court of Appeals simply issued an Order denying Mr. Ruttle's appeal on November 27, 2024.

Mr. Ruttle timely filed his Motion for Rehearing on December 12, 2024, which was denied on January 31, 2025.

For the reasons stated in this Petition, it is the Mr. Ruttle's position that the Court of Appeals wrongly affirmed the decisions and actions of the trial court with regard to Mr. Ruttle's Motion for Immunity under the PPPA, Motion for New Trial on the grounds of juror concealment, and in

charging implied malice to the jury in a case in which the defendant admitted to unlawfully concealing a handgun about his person but maintained that he only armed himself and discharged the handgun in self-defense. Moreover, Mr. Ruttle maintains that the Court of Appeals, upon receiving Mr. Ruttle's supplemental citation to Rowell, wrongly failed to remand this case to the trial court for further evidentiary proceedings to ensure Mr. Ruttle a meaningful opportunity to establish the requisite evidentiary record and the applicability of the newly announced juror concealment framework. Accordingly, this Court should grant certiorari and remand this case for further evidentiary proceedings consistent with Rowell.

RELEVANT FACTS
Facts Pertinent to Motion for Self-Defense Immunity

This case arises out of an incident occurring May 5, 2017 in the parking lot of the Timken Community Center, located at 180 Foster Street, Cowpens, SC 29330 ("Timken Center"). See R. pp. 18-20; 32:17-33:21; R. pp. 174-75; 377:24-380:14.

The individuals involved in the events in question are Devin Ruttle, Lorenzo Calderon, a friend of Mr. Ruttle's ("Lorenzo"), Hunter Sizemore, who was a friend of Lorenzo's ("Hunter"), and Dalton Moore ("Decedent"). See R. pp. 25:24-26:10; 27:10-28:11; 30:21-33:21; 64:17-65:7; 66:7-67:16. Mr. Ruttle met Lorenzo at New Life Deliverance Worship Center ("New Life") where Mr. Ruttle's father is the Pastor and where Mr. Ruttle attended and assisted with worship services and youth group meetings. R. pp. 25:24-26:10; R. pp. 685:16-25; 732:22-734:12; 740:23-742:24. Mr. Ruttle knew of Decedent, but had no relationship with Decedent. R. pp. 25:15-26:16-17. While driving his car on the afternoon of May 5, 2017, Mr. Ruttle ran out of gas and reached out to Lorenzo to ask for a ride to a gas station. R. pp. 27:13-28:1; 61:19-62:11 Lorenzo showed up riding in Hunter's truck to give Mr. Ruttle a ride to the gas station. R. pp. 27:23-28:18.

After obtaining some gas, Mr. Ruttle retrieved his car and began driving to his girlfriend's house, at which time he drove past Decedent who appeared to be waving him down while walking along the side of the road near the Timken Center. See R. pp. 28:14–29:13; 31:1-8. Mr. Ruttle did not initially intend to stop, but due to an altercation that Mr. Ruttle witnessed between Lorenzo and Decedent a few weeks prior to the events of May 5, Mr. Ruttle decided that he would turn his car around and go speak with Decedent in hopes that he could speak peaceably to Decedent to let him know that he had no problems with or ill will towards him despite Decedent's issues with Lorenzo. See R. pp. 28:19–29:3; 31:1-15. Unbeknownst to Mr. Ruttle, after he had parted ways with Hunter and Lorenzo, Hunter, with Lorenzo riding in his truck, had driven in the same direction as Mr. Ruttle towards downtown Cowpens. R. p. 29:6-17. As Mr. Ruttle turned around in the school parking lot just beyond the Timken Center to go back and speak with Decedent, he saw Lorenzo jump out of the truck that Hunter was driving and approach Mr. Ruttle's car with a gun in his hand.¹ R. p. 31:10-20. Mr. Ruttle allowed Lorenzo to enter his car, but due to Lorenzo now being in the car with him, Mr. Ruttle did not want to try to speak to Decedent with Lorenzo present out of fear that Lorenzo might do "something violent towards [Decedent]."² R. pp. 31:10–32:5.

To keep separation between Lorenzo and Decedent while still attempting to peaceably speak

¹ In direct contravention to the finding of the trial court, Hunter, who only knew Mr. Ruttle as "Dev," was driving his truck in which Lorenzo was a passenger—at no time did Lorenzo drive Hunter's truck, use it to follow Mr. Ruttle, or stop the truck in the roadway for him [Lorenzo] and Hunter to jump out of the truck. See R. p.2. Rather, Hunter slowed his truck down because Lorenzo began to, and did, jump out of the moving truck, after which time Hunter departed the area in his truck without ever having exited his truck. R. pp. 46:9-17; 64:17-65:7; 66:7-67:16; R. p. 243:9-18.

² Mr. Ruttle admitted in his testimony that when Lorenzo jumped out of Hunter's truck, and approached and entered his car, Lorenzo was "really mad at [Decedent]." R. pp. 31:25-32:1.

with Decedent, Mr. Ruttle parked his car on Marion Court, approximately 100 yards away and down a bit of a hill from where he believed Decedent was walking in the Timken Center parking lot, and demanded that Lorenzo stay in the car so that he [Mr. Ruttle] could speak with Decedent. R. pp. 32:6-33; 54:18-25. Before letting Mr. Ruttle leave the car to go speak to Decedent, Lorenzo pulled out a second gun and demanded that Mr. Ruttle take the gun “just in case.” R. pp. 32:6-20. In hopes of convincing Lorenzo to stay in the car and away from Decedent, Mr. Ruttle took the gun offered by Lorenzo and concealed it in his waistband under his hooded sweatshirt. R. pp. 32:17-20; 36:3-9; 40:18–41:6.

Walking to the Timken Center parking lot, Mr. Ruttle found Decedent, who he approached in a non-aggressive manner with his empty hands out in the open and told him that he didn’t want anything to do with whatever problem existed between Decedent and Lorenzo. R. pp. 32:21-33:2; 36:13-37:2; 39:15-41:6. In response to Mr. Ruttle’s attempt to peaceably approach and speak with Decedent, Decedent reached behind his back and pulled a knife and began advancing aggressively on Mr. Ruttle.³ R. pp. 32:21-33:17; 34:17-35:2; 36:13-37:10; 39:15-41:6. In response to Decedent pulling a knife and aggressively advancing on him, Mr. Ruttle armed himself in self-defense with the handgun that until that moment had been concealed and known only to Mr. Ruttle, entreated Decedent to “stop,” and then, when Decedent continued his armed attack, fired in self-defense, striking Decedent once under the arm and killing him. R. pp. 32:21-33:21; 41:3-6. After the shock of the attack by Decedent and having to defend himself therefrom, Mr. Ruttle retreated to his car to find that Lorenzo had got in the driver’s seat after hearing the shots. R. pp. 33:22-34:12; 55:11-

³ During the immunity hearing the State admitted that there was in fact an open knife at the scene and that it was Decedent’s knife. R. p. 85:3-4.

19. After Mr. Ruttle entered the passenger seat of his car, Lorenzo drove Mr. Ruttle's car away from the scene before Mr. Ruttle and Lorenzo switched places and Mr. Ruttle drove to his girlfriend's house where he gave her his money in anticipation of turning himself in to the authorities. R. p. 34:3-12.

Facts Pertinent to Juror Concealment

Prior to his arrest in 2017, Mr. Ruttle attended New Life since it was founded in 2010 by his father Bunty Desor, who was and still is the Pastor at New Life. As the Pastor's son, Mr. Ruttle not only attended worship services and youth group meetings, but also assisted with the running thereof. As identified by New Life's Youth Pastor, Travis Mimms, the girl he knew as Nysha, a black female who was a "young teenager" in 2012, and whom Mr. Mimms identified as the same individual by way of Facebook photographs as Nysha Jefferies, Juror 92, regularly and consistently attended New Life during 2012 and 2013 before her attendance became less consistent in 2014 and ultimately stopped thereafter. R. p. 715:2-721:22; 732:16-738:13; p. 782-833.

As confirmed by the family records presented to the court, including inscriptions on family photos, and court records of which Petitioner's counsel expressly requested the trial court take judicial notice, Nysha Jefferies' mother is Janie Jefferies, and her grandfather is Charles Rosemond, Sr. See R. 870; R. p. 732:16-738:13; 757:19. Sadly in 2015 Nysha Jefferies' grandfather was the victim of three (3) violent crimes, armed robbery, burglary, and kidnapping, that ultimately resulted in him being shot to death. R. p. 757:20-758:4; 758:18-759:8; 760:3-9; 760:3-18. The assailant, Aundra Hunter, Jr., responsible for the violent crimes against Nysha Jefferies grandfather was tried in the Greenville County General Sessions Court between September 10 and 13, 2018, the exact same dates during which Mr. Ruttle's trial occurred. Id.; see also State v. Aundra Hunter Jr., 2015A2330210945, 2015A2330210946, 2015A2330210948, 2015A2330210950, 2015A2330210952, Greenville

County Public Index (Disposition Date 9/13/2018).⁴

Prior to trial and in preparation therefor, Mr. Ruttle's trial counsel received the Juror Information Packet from the Spartanburg County Clerk of Court's Office. R. pp. 662:5-667:7. Trial counsel provided his client and his family copies of the juror information to review whether they knew any of the names of the potential jurors indicated in the Juror Information Packet. R. pp. 662:5-667:7; 670:11-23; 694:15-696:5. However, Juror 92's, Nysha Jefferies, Form 235 Juror Information Form was not included in the Juror Information Packet provided to counsel prior to commencement of the September 10, 2018 term of court because Nysha Jefferies, in contravention of the language requiring the return of the Form 235 Juror Information Form within three (3) days of receipt, did not return her Form 235 to the Clerk of Court's Office and instead was required to fill a Form 235 out upon arrival to the Spartanburg County Courthouse on Monday morning, September 10, 2018. See

⁴ Pursuant to Rule 201(d), SCRE, "A court shall take judicial notice if requested by a party and supplied with the necessary information." (Emphasis added). Petitioner's counsel expressly requested three (3) times, twice in open court and once via email on May 25, 2021, that the court take judicial notice of the content of the court records concerning Nysha Jefferies, Janie Jefferies, Charles Rosemond, Sr., Aundra Hunter, Jr., and Thomas Lamont Rosemond, and even provided the court with printouts of the associated Greenville and Spartanburg County Public Index Reports, Spartanburg County Magistrate Court records, and information concerning arrest records that were publicly available on the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Office website and preserved by internet archive capture. Philips v. Pitt Cnty. Mem. Hosp., 572 F.3d 176, 180 (4th Cir. 2009) (Courts "may properly take judicial notice of matters of public record."); Colonial Penn Ins. Co. v. Coil, 887 F.2d 1236, 1239 (4th Cir. 1989) ("We note that the most frequent use of judicial notice of ascertainable facts is in noticing the content of court records." (internal quotation marks omitted; emphasis added); see also Corbin v. Hearst-Argyle Television, Inc., 561 F. Supp. 2d 546, 550-51 (D.S.C. 2008) (holding that a court may take "judicial notice of matters of public record," and, "[a]ccordingly, the defendants are right to argue that the Court may consider [a] police report as a matter of public record") (internal quotation marks omitted). Dooly v. Sears, C/A 8:22-cv-01734-DCC-JDA, at *1 n.2 (D.S.C. Jul. 20, 2022) (accessing the Spartanburg County Public Index and taking judicial notice of and reviewing the records from the docket in plaintiff's state court action).

R. pp. 694:15-696:5; R.785-818; R. p. 784.

At the commencement of voir dire the court explained the purpose of voir dire to the potential jurors and unequivocally sought for potential jurors to disclose “any connection whatsoever” with anyone involved in the trial. R. p. 119:22-120:20. At the conclusion of voir dire, the court, after again asking all witnesses and related family members in the gallery, which included Devin’s father the founder and pastor of New Life, to stand and face the jury panel, sought for the potential jurors to disclose if any potential juror believed they had “seen somewhere,” recognized, knew, or had “any connection” to the witnesses or related family members. R. pp. 144:21-145:16. Despite several jurors responding affirmatively to the court’s request to disclose “any connection” to any of the parties, attorneys, witnesses, or their families, which resulted in potential jurors disclosing even attenuated connections, such as knowing the mother of Mr. Ruttle’s attorney “years ago,” Nysha remained silent.

The court also asked the following specific voir dire questions relevant to this case:

- Do you or any members of your immediate family attend or have you ever attended the New Life Deliverance Worship Center.... R. p. 131:7-10.
- Has any member of the jury panel or any members of your immediate family ever been the victim of, or have you or that family member ever been accused of having committed[,] any type of criminal offense that might be characterized or described as a violent offense? You or a family member has been the victim of such or you or a family member has been accused of such. And violent offenses might include the crimes of murder, manslaughter, armed robbery, burglary, criminal sexual conduct, domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature, common law robbery, aggravated assault and battery or any other similar type of offense. Have you or that family member ever been the victim of such or ever been accused of having committed such? If so, please stand. R. pp. 131:17-132:6.

Even though, unbeknownst to Mr. Ruttle, Nysha Jefferies had regularly attended New Life and its weekly youth group meetings between 2010 and 2014, she did not reveal this information when asked on voir dire. R. p. 127:9-16; R. pp. 715:2-721:22; 732:16-738:13; 757:19-762:16; R. 781-83; R. p.

870. In response to the inquiry regarding whether any juror or their immediate family members had been the victim of a violent crime, six (6) jurors did respond, three (3) of whom were excused from service including one who was excused on the basis that the juror's nephew was murdered in a shooting. R. pp. 132:7-136:20. Despite presumably listening to the judge's question and the various responses of other jurors, Nysha Jefferies did not disclose that her grandfather had been the victim of a 2015 burglary, kidnapping, and armed robbery that resulted in his death.⁵

Mr. Ruttle had seven (7) peremptory challenges remaining when Nysha's name was drawn for service on the jury and she was seated.⁶ R. pp. 143:11-148:19.

ARGUMENT

I. Introduction

As an initial matter, given the complete break in the four decades of juror concealment jurisprudence, Petitioner respectfully requests the Court grant certiorari in this case, dispense with further briefing and remand this case for further evidentiary proceedings consistent with Rowell and the newly adopted framework by which issues of juror concealment are now analyzed and decided. Failure to remand this case for further evidentiary proceedings given the sea change effected by Rowell would constitute a substantial constitutional due process violation by denying Petitioner a meaningful opportunity to establish an appropriate record from which to obtain relief. Moreover, immediate remand will ensure significant judicial economy for both the courts and the parties either by providing

⁵ As noted, coincidentally, the assailant who perpetrated the violent crimes against Nysha's grandfather was actually standing trial in Greenville County at the same time as this trial. See 13th Circuit Public Index Records.

⁶ One of Mr. Ruttle's peremptory strikes was utilized to strike Juror 125, who was one of the jurors who responded to the question regarding violent crimes and indicated that her family member was the victim of a crime. R. pp. 135:25-136:18; pp. 152:24-153:4.

a potential dispositive resolution to all issues on appeal or by allowing all issues that will need appellate consideration to be decided at one time as opposed to in a piecemeal manner.

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