**RECEIVED**

**Sep 10 2025**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

*Certiorari to the Court the Court of Appeals*

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

---

State of South Carolina .....RESPONDENT

V.

Devin Zachary Elijah Ruttle. .... PETITIONER

---

Appellate Case No. 2025-000404

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 14244

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

## ARGUMENT

**I. No further fact-finding for evaluating Ruttle’s claim of juror concealment is warranted since Ruttle has already received a hearing on his claim, and the trial found that Ruttle had failed to show not only that juror at issue was the juror in church videos from his father’s church, but it was, Ruttle demonstrated no “potential for bias” against him. The Court of Appeals exercised ordinary review of the new trial motion issue and affirmed the trial court’s denial. Ruttle fails to present any issue that warrants certiorari review.**

**[Questions I, V, and VI].**

Ruttle argues that this Court should remand the matter to the trial court to allow Ruttle’s juror concealment argument(s) to be considered in light of *State v. Rowell*, 444 S.C. 109, 906 S.E.2d 554 (2024). (Pet. 11-13). However, Ruttle’s reliance on *Rowell* for a new hearing is

misplaced. Ruttle has already received a hearing on the matter and *Rowell* does not entitle him to a second hearing on the same allegation.

Judge Cole held a hearing on Ruttle's new trial motion on May 12, 2021. (R. 651). Judge Cole denied the motion by written order dated April 8, 2022. (R. 6-13). The order is comprehensive to the claim and the evidence. At issue was whether a juror (Juror #92) failed to disclose a connection with Ruttle's father's church and that her grandfather was a victim of a violent crime. (R. 8, 10).<sup>2</sup> Notably, Judge Cole found initially found that Ruttle had failed to satisfactorily prove that the juror was same individual in various photographs that a youth minister at the church identified as "Nysha," and related to possible community events held at the church. (R. 8, 11). Even so, Judge Cole considered the arguments as if that connection had been made and resolved that Ruttle still had not shown he was entitled to any relief. (R. 8).

As to the connection with the church, curiously, neither Ruttle nor his father testified, to the best of their personal knowledge, that the juror had a connection with the church. (R. 10). Further, Judge Cole considered the *voir dire* question posed, which indicated attendance of the church, as in a regular member of the congregation or regularly in attendance. (R. 11). The judge resolved that the evidence did not support that a "relationship or connection" actually existed "between "the defendant, his father, or the" church and the juror, and that Ruttle "failed to establish" an intentional concealment, or even that such information would have "been a material fact in the intelligent exercise of a peremptory challenge," much less a basis to challenge the juror for cause. (R. 12, 13). Indeed, trial counsel testified at the new trial hearing that likely would have favored having a juror with a connection to the church. (R. 11).

---

<sup>2</sup> Ruttle also argued that the same juror "must have known him from the time they were both in" high school. (R. 9). However, Ruttle did not press that claim in his brief to the Court of Appeals. (Unpublished Op. at 3, n. 4). That matter has been waived and abandoned.

The Court of Appeals likewise examined the new trial evidence and the record in considering Ruttle's argument of error and determined that the record did not show any abuse of discretion. (Unpublished Op. at 2). Though Ruttle argues heartily for a new hearing under *Rowell*, that case provides no support for him.

In *Rowell*, this Court abandoned "the intentional versus unintentional distinction." *Rowell*, 444 S.C. at 115, 906 S.E.2d at 557. However, undisturbed is still a showing of potential bias and prejudice: "when a juror untruthfully answers or fails to answer a material *voir dire* question, the juror's bias may not be presumed, and a new trial may be ordered only when prejudice is proven by showing the concealed information reveals a potential for bias *and* would have made an objectively material difference in the moving party's use of a peremptory strike or resulted in a successful challenge for cause." *Id.*, at 115–16, 906 S.E.2d at 557. In essence, this Court "simplify[ed] the inquiry" and took the focus on the juror and placed the focus on the information. *Id.*, at 115, 906 S.E.2d at 557.

Here, the Court of Appeals looked to the record as to the purported church connection. Yes, Judge Cole did find no intentional concealment based on the interpretation of the question, (R. 11-13), but that was one of many reasons to deny the motion and there is no indication that was a dispositive point for the Court of Appeals. Respondent suggests that more important is the lack of bias finding, consistent with *Rowell*, and lack of evidence that would have affected a peremptory strike or disqualification. Indeed, as Judge Cole noted, neither Ruttle nor former trial counsel indicated "that a peremptory challenge would have been exercised to excuse the juror from service had the information been known to them." (R. 12). Even strong, trial counsel testified, "I would want someone that went to the church to be on that jury most of the time." (R. 674). As

the Court of Appeals correctly pointed out, much of the pre-*Rowell* precedent is still generally consistent with *Rowell*. (Unpublished Op. 3 n.2).

Notably, Ruttle argued in his rehearing that the Court of Appeals applied a new test, the *Rowell* test, without further proceeding, (Pet. Rhrgr. ¶ 4), but that does not aid in this argument in two distinct ways. First, the argument acknowledges that the evidence supports the *Rowell* test that he maintains should be applied. Second, the argument is not quite supported by the opinion, rather, the Court of Appeals still reviewed of Judge Cole's factual determinations, it did not make *de novo* review of the evidence from the new trial hearing. (Unpublished Op. at 6 n. 9). Third, the precise language of the footnote on *Rowell* speaks to who should have subpoenaed the juror (who was not presented). The Court of Appeals correctly pointed out that it could “distinguish *Rowell* from the instant case in which a posttrial hearing was held and Ruttle did not produce” the juror for questioning. (Unpublished Op. at 6 n.9). Again, no additional hearing is warranted in light of the comprehensive fact-finding already made by Judge Cole and found to support affirmance by the Court of Appeals, in connection with Ruttle's new trial motion.

Lastly, as to the issue of whether the juror had concealed that her grandfather was a victim of a violent crime, there is no direct ruling on that issue in the April 8, 2022 order. However, the possibility of intentional concealment is largely extinguished by reference to the trial record; the trial court's definition of “immediate family member” to identify, which is shown just a few lines, therefore given in close time to the inquiry on violent crime, included only “a parent, spouse, child or sibling” and a caution that that definition applied “for the purpose of all of [the judge's] questions[.]” (R. 131). Again, the Court of Appeals did not premise affirmance on the intention or unintentional distinction abandoned in *Rowell*, rather, the Court of Appeals found the jury “concealed no information” at all because the question – presumably a good indicator of what is

considered “material” information for a strike or disqualification, specifically did not include grandparents. Ruttle has not shown an additional is necessary. Rather, the Court of Appeals reasonably agreed that the record supported that Ruttle had failed in his burden of proof. (Unpublished Op. at 4-5). Ruttle has shown no compelling cause or important reason to grant his petition. Ruttle has failed, in fact, to point to any error in law or fact. The petition should denied.

**II. The Court of Appeals exercised ordinary and proper appellate review of the trial judge’s denial of immunity under an abuse of discretion standard and certiorari review is not warranted.**

**[Petitioner’s Questions III and IV]**

The Protection of Persons and Property Act (“The Act”) provides immunity from criminal prosecution for a person who has used deadly force if the trial court, after a *Duncan* hearing, finds the person was justified in using such force. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 16-11-410 to 450 (2015); *State v. Duncan*, 392 S.C. 404, 410, 709 S.E.2d 662, 665 (2011) (setting forth the procedure, standard of review, and burden of proof for an immunity determination). To put it plainly, to obtain immunity, a defendant must either satisfy all four elements of self-defense by a preponderance, to the trial court’s satisfaction, or three of the elements plus Sections (A) and (B) or Section (C) of the Act if it applies. *State v. Glenn*, 429 S.C. 108, 838 S.E.2d 491 (2019).

Ruttle claims the Court of Appeals failed to correct a clear error of law – that Judge Cole simply found that the evidence in the immunity hearing created a question for the jury and made no fact-findings as required. (Pet. 17). However, Judge Cole’s order, while acknowledging the evidence boiled down to the “quintessential jury question,” he did so while *quoting Curry*. (R. 4). There is no indication that he rested his denial on that point. To the contrary, Judge Cole set out that he found “especially convincing” that it was likely the victim, if armed, armed himself in self-defense given that men were approaching him with firearms. (R. 3). Moreover, Judge Cole noted

the burden of proof on Ruttle and that Ruttle failed to meet his burden: "... the defendant has failed to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that he is entitled to immunity pursuant to S.C. Code Section 16-11-440 (C).

As the Court of Appeals found, the record shows that Judge Cole exercised his discretion and did not abuse it – there was no error of law. (Unpublished Op. 7). Simply, approaching the victim with the gun, where the victim is simply walking outside without any anticipation of confrontation by approaching men with guns, presents a series of facts that is difficult to see any other way than Ruttle was not without fault in bringing on the difficulty. However, as the Court of Appeals resolved, it mattered not whether the Court of Appeals agreed; only that the record showed that the trial court did not abuse its discretion either by resting its decision on unsupported fact-finding or an error of law. (Unpublished Op. at 7). Though the *Curry* quote was included, it is amply shown by the detailed order that Judge Cole acted as the fact-finder as required. *See State v. Andrews*, 427 S.C. 178, 182, 830 S.E.2d 12, 14 (2019) (affirming a trial court order where it was clear that "the record is ... adequate for a reviewing court to determine that the circuit court applied the correct burden of proof and made findings that supported its denial of immunity consistent with a correct application of this Court's precedent."). Ruttle's claim of legal error should be rejected.

**III. The Court of Appeals properly found Ruttle's challenge to the jury instruction was not preserved for merits review where Ruttle plainly failed to raise the issue to the trial judge. Consequently, Ruttle fails to show this issue warrants certiorari review.**

**[Petitioner's Question II]**

Ruttle continues to argue for review of this issue that the Court of Appeals found was not preserved by any objection or argument at trial. (Pet. 13). However, the record shows that Ruttle made no objection or argument on why implied malice should not have been explained in this

murder case. Thus, the Court of Appeals simply applied ordinary, established procedural rules to find that the issue was not preserved for a merits review. (Unpublished Op. 8). Further, Ruttle’s reliance on *State v. Smith*, 430 S.C. 226, 232, 845 S.E.2d 495, 498 (2020), an attempted murder case, is misplaced. Defining implied malice in a murder is necessarily tied to defining the offense itself. “Murder is the unlawful killing of any person with malice aforethought, either express or implied.” S.C. Code § 16-3-10.<sup>3</sup> But the Court need not go that far as the issue is plainly barred. *See State v. Daniels*, 401 S.C. 251, 255, 737 S.E.2d 473, 475 (2012) (“It is axiomatic that a party cannot raise an objection to a jury charge for the first time on appeal.”). The Court of Appeals did not err in finding the issue procedurally unavailable on this record. Further, like the review of the above issue, the disposition required only application of ordinary and well-established review procedures. Ruttle fails to show any compelling or important reason to grant certiorari review.

### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, this Court should deny the petition.